**RECEIVED**

**Nov 13 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

Appeal from Darlington County Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2021-001155

---

Cephas Cowick, #383684.....Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina.....Respondent.

---

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

---

WILLIAM G. YARBOROUGH, III

LAUREN CAROLE HOBBS

WGY Law

308 West Stone Avenue

Greenville, South Carolina 29609

(864) 331-1612 | F: 864-271-0711

**ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER**

##

**QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- I. WHETHER THE PCR COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING PETITIONER'S PCR APPLICATION UPON THE FINDING THAT INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL CLAIMS FALL WITHIN THE SCOPE OF THE WAIVER CONTAINED IN THE UNWRITTEN PLEA AGREEMENT.**
  
- II. WHETHER THE PCR COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING PETITIONER'S PCR APPLICATION UPON THE FINDING THAT PETITIONER DID NOT RECEIVE CONSTITUTIONALLY DEFECTIVE ADVICE CONCERNING THE PLEA AGREEMENT OR THE WAIVER WHEN THE PCR COURT FAILED TO APPLY THE PROPER STANDARD AND THE RECORD FAILS TO ESTABLISH A KNOWING AND VOLUNTARY WAIVER.**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In October 2016, the Darlington County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner Cephas Cowick on two counts of murder, criminal conspiracy, armed robbery, first-degree burglary, grand larceny value over \$2000 but less than \$10,000, possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, and third-degree arson. (App. pp. 191-219). His wife, Katherine Baucom-Cowick, was charged with the same offenses and is still currently awaiting trial. Petitioner was represented by Emily T. Kuchar, Esq. and William S. McGuire, Esq. of the South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense, and by Nathan R. Scales, Esq., of the Public Defender's Office. Fourth Circuit Deputy Solicitor Kernard E. Redmond prosecuted the case and sought the death penalty against Petitioner and Katherine Baucom-Cowick.

Petitioner pleaded guilty before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. via WebEx on June 24, 2020. In exchange for the State's withdrawal of the intent to seek the death penalty, Petitioner pleaded guilty on all charges as indicted and received life imprisonment without the possibility of parole (LWOP). The oral plea agreement also called for some waiver of Petitioner's rights to seek appellate and collateral relief, the scope of which is at dispute. The plea agreement in this case was never memorialized into writing.<sup>1</sup> Petitioner was sentenced to LWOP for both murder charges; LWOP for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, thirty (30) years for armed robbery, thirty (30) years for first-degree burglary, fifteen (15) years for third-degree arson, five (5) years for criminal conspiracy, and

---

<sup>1</sup> Note that Judge Griffith mistakenly refers to a plea affidavit form Petitioner had completed prior to the hearing as the "plea agreement" and "plea waiver" during the colloquy. (App. p. 103, line 25—p. 104, line 12; p. 104, lines 14-18; p. 108 lines 22-24; p. 158, line 19; p. 159, line 1). The plea affidavit form is largely in fill-the-blank and yes or no answer format and makes no mention of any waiver of his rights to direct appeal, post-conviction relief, or habeas corpus, etc. (App. pp. 180-190).

five (5) years for grand larceny. (App. p. 160, line 8—p. 161, line 5; pp. 191-219). The sentences were ordered to run concurrently. (App. p. 160, line 8—p. 161, line 5). Petitioner did not appeal his conviction or sentence.

Represented by the undersigned William G. Yarborough, III, Esq. and Lauren C. Hobbis, Esq., Petitioner filed a post-conviction relief application on March 11, 2021, alleging ineffective assistance of counsel on the following grounds:

- Counsel failed to undertake reasonable measures to engage in plea negotiations and bargaining opportunities with the State on the basis of Applicant's potential cooperation against his codefendant and assistance to the State.
- Counsel likewise failed to adequately inform or explain to Applicant any previously extended proffer and plea offers and the terms thereof, including cooperation against his codefendant, and advise him accordingly.
- Counsel failed to investigate evidence, witnesses, potential defenses, legal theories, and potential dispositive pre-trial motions available to Applicant. *See e.g., Edwards v. State*, 392 S.C. 449, 456, 710 S.E.2d 60, 63 (2011).
- Counsel failed to explain the nature of the charges and the extent of the State's evidence against him. Counsel failed to adequately review discovery with Applicant and advise him accordingly, particularly in regard to whether certain incriminating hearsay statements and co-conspirator statements may or may not be admissible against him. Counsel likewise failed to advise him accordingly relative to his potential strategy and his chances of gaining a favorable outcome at trial.
- Counsel failed to adequately explain the plea agreement's terms and its relative advantages and disadvantages as opposed to proceeding to trial in light of the State's evidence against him. Counsel also failed to sufficiently advise Applicant on the nature and implications of entering a plea of guilty, including a sufficient advisement of the rights he would be waiving. Likewise, Applicant unknowingly, unintelligently, and involuntarily waived his rights to direct appeal of his conviction and sentence, as well as post-conviction relief because of Counsel's errors.
- Each of these errors not only impacted Applicant's decision on whether to plead guilty or proceed to trial, but also rendered his guilty plea not knowingly, intelligently, or voluntarily entered. But for these errors, Applicant would not have pleaded guilty and instead would have proceeded to trial.

- Counsel failed to adequately investigate mitigating circumstances relevant to sentencing, and consequently failed to adequately present these mitigating circumstances to the court during sentencing.

(App. pp. 85 – 95). Respondent filed a Return and Partial Motion to Dismiss on June 11, 2021, as amended on July 29, 2021, and requested a hearing pursuant to *Sanders v. State*.<sup>2</sup> (App. pp. 62 – 70; pp. 76 – 84). In the Return and Motion, Respondent argued the PCR Court should dismiss the PCR application on the basis of his plea agreement waiver:

The record clearly shows that Applicant was informed of the extent of his waiver, and knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently waived his rights to both a direct appeal and a PCR application. The record is also abundantly clear Applicant entered his guilty plea to avoid receiving the death penalty at trial, not because of any misunderstanding about the effects of the waiver. Furthermore, any deficiency that could conceivably exist in counsel's performance was cured by the court's thorough colloquy, thereby rendering any defect in counsel's representation harmless.

(App. p. 68). On June 23, 2021, Petitioner filed a Response Opposing Respondent's Motion to Dismiss and also requested a hearing on the validity and scope of the plea agreement waiver. (App. pp. 71-75).

On August 24, 2021, Judge Michael G. Nettles held a Webex hearing on Respondent's Motion to Dismiss. Petitioner testified via Webex from McCormick Correctional Institution. Petitioner's attorneys of record, William G. Yarborough III, Esq., and Lauren C. Hobbis, Esq. appeared on his behalf. Assistant Attorney General William H. Ray, Esq. appeared for Respondent. Solicitor Redmond and one of Petitioner's plea attorneys, Mr. McGuire, also testified. After taking the matter under advisement, Judge Nettles ultimately granted the State's Motion to Dismiss and

---

<sup>2</sup> 412 S.C. 611, 773 S.E.2d 580 (2015) (holding a PCR applicant is entitled to challenge the advice he received when entering into a plea agreement containing a PCR waiver and is entitled to a hearing on the validity and enforceability of the waiver).

dismissed Petitioner's PCR application by written order issued on September 30, 2021 and filed October 7, 2021. (App. pp. 1 – 14).

Petitioner filed a Notice of Appeal from the Order of Dismissal with the South Carolina Supreme Court on October 12, 2021. This Court granted certiorari on September 12, 2023. This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### A. The Charges

This factual summary is taken from the summary provided by Solicitor Redmond at the plea hearing as well as at the Motion to Dismiss hearing. At approximately 6 a.m. on July 17, 2016, Codefendant Katherine drove Petitioner to the residence of fifty-one-year-old Denise Couplin. (App. p. 111, lines 1-5; p. 27, lines 9-18). Petitioner was said to have fatally shot Ms. Couplin and her nine-year-old granddaughter at point blank range after breaking into the home. (App. pp. 111-114; p. 27, lines 18-24). Ms. Couplin's Escalade and several other items were stolen from the home, including prescription drugs, money, and her debit card. (App. pp. 111-114; p. 27, line 24—p. 28, line 1). Surveillance cameras captured Petitioner and Katherine making several trips to a nearby convenient store in Hartsville both before and after the shooting, with Petitioner driving the Escalade during the final sighting. (App. p. 115; p. 28, lines 1-9). The Escalade was found burned a short distance away from the residence later on that same day. (App. p. 112; p. 28, lines 1-9).

Petitioner and Katherine were suspected as having been involved after several of Ms. Couplin's family members and an unnamed individual told law enforcement that the couple had been looking to obtain a gun and had expressed a desire to kill Ms. Couplin in the past. (App. p. 111, line 22—p. 112, line 22; p. 28). The couple was interviewed by law enforcement that same day. (App. p. 112, lines 22-25; p. 28). Petitioner initially denied involvement but after numerous hours of interrogation, he ultimately gave a statement admitting to his and Katherine's involvement. (App. p. 112, line 25—p. 113, line 25). Petitioner cooperated with law enforcement in regard to the gun used, how they obtained it, and where law enforcement would be able to locate it. (App. p. 113, lines 18-25). The prescription drugs, money, and

debit cards stolen from Ms. Couplin were found in Katherine's purse. (App. p. 113, line 25—p. 114, line 3).

## **B. Guilty Plea and Sentencing Hearing**

Judge Griffith began by summarizing each indictment and explaining the trial rights waived by Petitioner's guilty plea. (App. p. 100, line 9—p. 109, line 11). Petitioner responded he understood the trial rights he was waiving and affirmed that his decision to plead guilty was made freely and voluntarily. (App. p. 103, line 24—p. 109, line 12; p. 110, lines 2-10). He also agreed with the summary Solicitor Redmond gave for the factual basis of the plea. (App. p. 117, lines 6-25). After further questioning, Judge Griffith was satisfied that Petitioner had understood his conversations with counsel, did not require additional time to consult with them, and was competent to plead guilty. (App. p. 121, line 5—p. 123, line 24).

In regard to the unwritten plea agreement, Judge Griffith inquired into Petitioner's understanding "of the negotiations that went on in regard to the ultimate result for you" in that he would receive a LWOP sentence on both murder charges. (App. p. 118, line 16—p. 119, line 2). The colloquy on the waiver was confusing and continued to evolve without objection until Mr. McGuire and then Mr. Scales clarified its terms. (App. p. 126, line 22—p. 127, line 3; p. 127, lines 4-7). Judge Griffith first asked if he understood that he was "withdrawing or waiving any appellant [sic] rights, the rights of appeal in this case...to forego any challenges for any improper procedures that have been made today in today's plea. Is that your understanding?" (App. p. 120, lines 18 – 25). Petitioner confirmed this as his understanding of the waiver and no objection to this description of the waiver was made by the State or his plea attorneys at that time. (App. p. 120, line 22; p. 121, line 1).

It was not until Judge Griffith later asked if any additional matters needed to be put on the record did Solicitor Redmond interject that the scope of the waiver also specifically included collateral relief or “collateral attacks” subject to “some possible caveats as a matter of law.” (App. p. 124, line 17—p. 125, line 2). Ms. Kuchar explained that as previously discussed with the Solicitor, the waiver included “post-conviction relief as to any issues that are now known to Mr. Cowick...He’s unable under case law to waive issues that are unknown to him, but he will waive as far as known issues to him.” (App. p. 125, lines 3-19). Solicitor Redmond concurred with this explanation (App. p. 125, lines 20-21) and Judge Griffith summarized Ms. Kuchar’s explanation for Petitioner as:

[A]ny rights he may have that he’s aware of, certainly he can waive those. But if something anew arises, at that time he can then make a decision as to whether or not to challenge it collaterally...So everything that you know is on the table. You’ve made this decision considering all of those things and this is binding upon you regarding to your [sic] known facts that you understand right now. However, if something anew arises sometime after today, you would then have the ability to consider that and decide whether to challenge it on this new information or something you were not aware of currently.

(App. p. 125, line 22—p. 126, line 13). Petitioner stated he understood Judge Griffith’s explanation. (App. p. 126, lines 5, lines 14-16). However, Mr. McGuire then interjected to fully clarify the scope of the waiver:

Mr. Cowick is waiving all of the claims to him *unrelated to ineffective assistance* [sic]. But the case law indicates that it would be unethical for us to counsel him to waive claims against us. So any known claims with regard to anything in his case that he knows about is [sic] waiving, *but not specifically ineffective. We’re not able to encourage him to do that.*

(App. p. 126, line 22—p. 127, line 3) (italics added). Mr. Scales also added: “And, Your Honor, I do understand that. I discussed that and the case law regarding that. So basically, what he’s waiving is a maximum of what we can allow him to waive and I did have that discussed.” (App. p. 127, lines 4-7). Solicitor Redmond made no objection to Mr. McGuire or Mr. Scales’s explanation on the scope of the waiver.

Judge Griffith stated he understood the explanation given by Mr. McGuire and Mr. Scales and then turned to Petitioner with additional questions about his attorneys' representation; to which Petitioner stated he was satisfied with his attorneys and had understood the advice they had given him thus far. (App. p. 127, lines 8—p. 128, line 4). Petitioner was not asked whether he understood the scope of the waiver as it was last explained on the record by Mr. McGuire or Mr. Scales. Petitioner was also never asked whether he understood the waiver as barring ineffective assistance of counsel claims nor did he otherwise state that he understood the waiver as having such an effect. Likewise, no description of what, if any, claims Petitioner had been made aware of at the time was put on the record.

Judge Griffith later resummarized the waiver as: "Mr. Cowick has agreed to waive any known appellant rights he has at the current time or any collateral attacks that he may have known. Subject to the current state law, if he may have challenges, that will be determined with independent advice, if he so chooses." (App. p. 129, lines 6-10).

### **C. Motion to Dismiss Hearing Testimony**

#### Deputy Solicitor Kernard E. Redmond

Solicitor Redmond testified he understood the plea agreement waiver as applying to direct appeal and collateral attacks on any claims, including claims of ineffective assistance of counsel and claims known to Petitioner or in existence at the time of the guilty plea hearing. (App. p. 33, lines 12-18).<sup>3</sup> He explained it was made clear that allowing Petitioner to plead guilty and receive

---

<sup>3</sup> However, Solicitor Redmond also summarized the waiver as: "The way I interpreted it, is that he was being advised that: Yes, this waiver's in place. *But you can basically disregard this waiver if you want to go forward with postconviction.* And so, I take the position that he is disregarding the waiver in order to go forward with postconviction. But that does not invalidate the waiver, if I'm making any sense. So in essence, even though the waiver is basically an agreement between us and the defense, that he's not going to seek those things. And if he does, then it kicks in where,

an LWOP sentence was conditioned upon the plea agreement's terms and waiver. (App. p. 35, lines 18-23; p. 36, lines 8-12). In his view, Petitioner's filing of the instant PCR application entitled the State to now void the agreement and move to reopen the sentencing process. (App. p. 32, lines 4-7; p. 33, lines 4-9; p. 36, lines 3-12). On cross-examination, Solicitor Redmond acknowledged that he and defense counsel had never reduced the plea agreement to writing, but stated its terms are reflected in letters he received from defense counsel in September 2019 and January 2020. (App. p. 34, lines 16-25; p. 35, line 1). He read the letters (App. pp. 96-97) into the record at the Motion to Dismiss Hearing, the first of which states, in pertinent part:

[W]e are writing you to memorialize Cephas'[s] desire to plead guilty to the murders...for a sentence of life in prison without the possibility of parole. Cephas would give up the right to appeal this sentence or to seek PCR or habeas relief. His sentence would be final and he will die in prison.

(App. p. 29, lines 14-25). A follow-up letter signed by Mr. McGuire states in pertinent part:

We continue today to be hopeful this case may be resolved by a plea to life without [ ] parole...Cephas understands that because you are seeking the death penalty, he will be sentenced under S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-20...Cephas will further waive any appeals or collateral relief from his sentence. Under the proposed plea, Cephas's sentence will be final. He will never be eligible for parole or any reduction in his sentence, and he will die in prison.

(App. p. 30, lines 4-25). Solicitor Redmond acknowledged that both letters are signed by his plea attorneys only. (App. p. 31, lines 5-12). He also testified that he had never directly discussed with Petitioner regarding the plea agreement, the scope of the waiver, or Petitioner's understanding of the waiver. (App. p. 34, lines 9-15).

Solicitor Redmond testified he and Mr. McGuire communicated frequently regarding this matter including the day prior to the plea hearing where a caveat to the waiver according to certain

---

you know, we can obviously revisit the sentencing issues. And so that's the way I interpreted it." (App. p. 32, line 21—p. 33, line 3) (italics added).

case law was discussed, but Solicitor Redmond could not recall the details of the conversation at the Motion to Dismiss Hearing. (App. p. 32, lines 12-14; p. 35, lines 3-14).

Plea Counsel William S. McGuire, Esq.

Mr. McGuire testified that he and Ms. Kuchar came onto the case after the attorney originally representing Petitioner left SCCID. (App. p. 37, lines 16-21). Mr. McGuire recalled that the plea negotiation process began “pretty much from the beginning”, with verbal conversations with Solicitor Redmond both before and after writing to him. (App. p. 37, line 22—p. 38, line 2; p. 41, lines 6-17; p. 42, lines 3-6). He explained that although Petitioner did not want to engage in plea negotiations with the State, “We have an obligation to seek the best possible plea negotiation even if your client’s against it.” (App. p. 41, lines 1-5; p. 38, lines 4-6).

Referring to the letter dated September 9, 2019, Mr. McGuire stated he had explained to Petitioner that by entering into the plea agreement, he would be waiving his rights to direct appeal and post-conviction relief. (App. p. 42, lines 10-21). Mr. McGuire later clarified, however, that “[t]here were certain things we could not waive” and “we could not advise any client to waive any claims against us” pursuant to *Sanders*,<sup>4</sup> which he discussed with Solicitor Redmond. (App. p. 46, lines 5-13; p. 43, lines 16-24; p. 44, lines 11-16). Mr. McGuire testified he made the plea judge aware of this at the hearing. (App. p. 43, lines 19-24; p. 46, lines 5-13). Mr. McGuire had also discussed this and the *Sanders* case specifically with Solicitor Redmond during negotiations, as

---

<sup>4</sup> It can be assumed that Mr. McGuire’s references to *Sanders*, as well as the references to “case law” during the plea hearing, were to a footnote in *Sanders* in which the Court expressed concern “with the ethical implications of a waiver of ineffective assistance of counsel claims” and cited a number of jurisdictions that have acknowledged the conflict of interest that arises when an attorney counsels his client to waive the right to challenge his representation. *Sanders*, 412 S.C. at 616, 773 S.E.2d at 582 n. 2.

well as the limitation on the scope of the waiver as applying only to claims Petitioner had been made aware of at the time of his guilty plea. (App. p. 43, lines 17-24; p. 44, lines 11-16). He further explained the waiver was not supposed to bar anything “new” or previously unknown to Petitioner, and used a violation of the prosecution’s continuous duty to disclose exculpatory evidence to the defense as an example. (App. p. 43, line 19—p. 44, line 5). He testified however, that whatever claims could be considered as “new” and “unknown” to Petitioner was not limited to just newly discovered evidence claims. (App. p. 44, lines 6-10).

Mr. McGuire acknowledged that the terms of the plea agreement and waiver were never reduced to writing; he stated the September 9, 2019 letter sent to Solicitor Redmond, however, encapsulated the terms of the plea agreement. (App. p. 42, lines 10-14; p. 45, lines 12-17). On cross-examination, he clarified that this letter does not contain all terms of the plea agreement. (App. p. 43, lines 2-10). Mr. McGuire then testified it was actually the plea affidavit that Petitioner had signed before the plea hearing that contained the whole plea agreement. (App. p. 43, lines 8-10). However, he subsequently clarified that the plea affidavit is a boilerplate-like form that fails to mention the waiver, explaining that there were claims that could not be waived pursuant to *Sanders*. (App. p. 43, lines 11-24; p. 45, line 12—p. 46, line 13).

Mr. McGuire also testified he believed Petitioner was competent, and as for his capability to comprehend counsel’s advice, he did not notice Petitioner as having difficulty understanding what was explained to him and denied that he had ever reported issues with his memory or trouble focusing. (App. p. 47, lines 14-18; p. 48, lines 20-25). However, SCCID had obtained medical records detailing the trauma to the areas of Petitioner’s brain that controlled executive functioning, focus, memory retention, impulse control etc., as a result of several prior head injuries he had sustained. (App. p. 46, line 14—p. 47, line 13). Mr. McGuire and the other attorneys had consulted

with neurology experts before opening plea negotiations but had stopped short of obtaining an MRI recommended by their experts to further investigate the extent of his brain trauma because it did not have a significant relation to the commission of the offenses charged. (App. p. 47, line 5—p. 48, line 3). Mr. McGuire also did not recall that Petitioner had been kept in solitary confinement at the jail for the roughly three (3) years he spent awaiting trial. (App. p. 48, lines 4-13).

#### Petitioner Cephas Cowick

Petitioner testified that both Mr. McGuire and Ms. Kuchar were his lawyers, but that it was Ms. Kuchar who met with him most of the time about his case. (App. p. 50, lines 16-23). Petitioner stated he was in jail for roughly four (4) years following his arrest, spending a majority of that time in solitary confinement. (App. p. 50, line 24—p. 51, line 4). Most of his meetings with Ms. Kuchar thus took place while he was in solitary confinement and living that way was difficult on him as far as trying to assist in his own defense with his lawyers. (App. p. 51, lines 5-8).

Petitioner testified that when meeting with his lawyers about the plea agreement, he was told he would still be able to seek post-conviction relief on ineffective assistance of counsel claims as well as those based on “new knowledge.” (App. p. 52, lines 8-20). Petitioner testified that he entered into the plea agreement believing he fully understood its terms. (App. p. 51, lines 13-14). Although the plea hearing was kind of confusing for him at times, he still felt he had understood the colloquy for the most part. (App. p. 52, lines 8-9). He testified the judge’s explanations during the plea colloquy mirrored what his counsel had explained about the plea agreement in that he would still be able to seek ineffective assistance of counsel claims later on. (App. p. 51, lines 15-19; p. 52, lines 8-20). With the understanding that the plea agreement did not bar him from filing a PCR application, Petitioner accordingly had his family contact the undersigned’s office to

represent him in his PCR action. (App. p. 51, lines 20-23). On cross-examination, Petitioner answered in the affirmative when asked: “Do you recall telling the Court that you understood that you were waiving your rights to post-conviction relief?”. (App. p. 53, lines 5-8). However, the plea hearing transcript demonstrates that Petitioner was neither asked nor stated that he understood the waiver as barring ineffective assistance of counsel claims.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

Upon review, the appellate court “will uphold the PCR court's factual findings if there is any evidence of probative value in the record to support them.” *Thompson v. State*, 423 S.C. 235, 239, 814 S.E.2d 487, 489 (2018) (citing *Sellner v. State*, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016)). However, “[q]uestions of law are reviewed *de novo*, and we will reverse the PCR court if its decision is controlled by an error of law.” *Frierson v. State*, 423 S.C. 257, 262, 815 S.E.2d 433, 435–36 (2018) (citing *Jamison v. State*, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014)).

## ARGUMENT

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