RECEIVED

Apr 16 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Certiorari to Darlington County
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Michael G. Nettles, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-001155

CEPHAS COWICK.....Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA.....Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 101188

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The post-conviction relief court properly dismissed Petitioner's PCR application because Petitioner knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to collateral review in order to secure a plea deal where he would avoid the death penalty.

Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in dismissing his application because he did not waive ineffective assistance of counsel claims as a part of plea negotiations. The PCR court properly rejected this argument, finding Petitioner knowingly and intelligently waived his right to collateral attack. These findings are not controlled by an error of law and are supported by probative evidence in the record. This Court should affirm.

Petitioner, like all other defendants, has a right to the assistance of effective counsel as provided by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. Const. amend. VI; *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); *Lomax v. State*, 379 S.C. 93, 665 S.E.2d 164 (2008). Petitioner has the burden of proving the allegations in his post-conviction relief action, and when alleging that trial counsel was constitutionally ineffective, he must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that it cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 686.

In the guilty plea context, the inquiry with respect to the counsel's alleged deficiency turns on whether the plea was voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently entered. *Hyman v. State*, 397 S.C. 35, 43, 723 S.E.2d 375, 379 (2012). The prejudice prong focuses on whether counsel's constitutionally ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process. *Id.* "A guilty plea is a solemn, judicial admission of the truth of the charges against an individual; thus, a criminal inmate's right to contest the validity of such a plea is usually, but not invariably, foreclosed." *Dalton v. State*, 376 S.C. 130, 137, 654 S.E.2d 870, 874 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing *Blackledge v. Allison*, 431 U.S. 63, 74 (1977)). A defendant's knowing and voluntary waiver of

statutory or constitutional rights must be established by a complete record, and may be accomplished by a colloquy between the court and defendant, between the court and defendant's counsel, or both. *Moore v. State*, 399 S.C. 641, 732 S.E.2d 871, 873 (2012).

Under South Carolina law, a defendant can choose to waive his right to collateral review of his conviction so long as the waiver is knowingly and voluntarily made. *Spoone v. State*, 379 S.C. 138, 665 S.E.2d 605 (2008) (holding that a waiver of appellate rights is valid and enforceable as long as it is knowing and voluntary); *see also Moore*. Plea agreements in general operate under contractual principles and are upheld when each party receives the benefit of the bargain. *State v. Thrift*, 312 S.C. 282, 292, 440 S.E.2d 341, 347 (1994). While appellate and collateral waivers are enforceable, a defendant who has waived his appellate and collateral review is still entitled to proceed forward with a post-conviction relief action on the very narrow issue of challenging his attorney's conduct in advising him to enter the waiver. *Sanders v. State*, 412 S.C. 611, 617, 773 S.E.2d 580, 583 (2015).

In this case, Petitioner chose to waive his right to collateral review to avoid the death penalty. At the plea hearing, Petitioner waived all appeals and PCRs. (App. 99). The solicitor made clear that Petitioner "would waive not just appeals, but any collateral attacks as well." (Amended App. 124-25). The plea court turned to Counsel:

[W]hat Solicitor Redmond also was asking was, you're agreeing by virtue of this negotiation to waive any rights to appeal. He also was suggesting to waive any collateral attacks and I'm understanding that must be post-conviction relief challenges. Counsel for Mr. Cowick, is that correct, is that correct, is that your understanding of what he's waiving also?

(App. 125).

Counsel Kuchar's response was "[w]e believe that we're able to waive post-conviction relief as to any issues that are now known to Mr. Cowick." (App. 125). Attorneys Scales and

McGuire stated that they did not believe they could ethically advise Petitioner to waive all claims of ineffective assistance of Counsel. *See Sanders*, 412 S.C at 616, 773 S.E.2d at 583 n.2 (expressing concern “with the ethical implications of a waiver of ineffective assistance of counsel claims”). After this discussion, Petitioner stated he understood what he was waiving and proceeded to waive all collateral attacks pertaining to “anything known” to him as of the date of the plea hearing. (App. 125-26). Petitioner advised the court that he was satisfied with his attorneys, that he understood their advice, and believed they provided him with good and fair advice. (App. 127-28). Petitioner stated that he had previously been treated for mental health disorders, but counsels confirmed that they had no concerns about Petitioner’s competency. (App. 122). Petitioner confirmed he did not take any prescribed or unprescribed medication, drugs or alcohol within twenty-four hours of the plea, that he felt clear-headed and good that day, and that he had enough to eat. (App. 122-23).

At the PCR hearing, the solicitor testified the plea process was initiated by Petitioner’s attorneys, who sent letters stating that Petitioner would waive his right to appeal and the ability to pursue all PCR and habeas actions. (App. 29). The solicitor testified it was his understanding that if Petitioner pursued a PCR action, the plea agreement would be void and he would be permitted to move to reopen the sentencing process. (App. 32). He testified that his understanding was that the waiver encompassed ineffective assistance of counsel claims, as far as the claims related to information that existed at the time of the plea. (App. 33).

The letters from counsel assured the solicitor that Petitioner “will further *waive any appeals of collateral relief* from his sentence. Under the proposed plea, Cephas’ sentence will be final. He will never be eligible for parole or any reduction in his sentence, and *he will die in*

prison.” (App. 96) (emphasis added). A second letter reiterated: “Cephas would *give up the right to appeal this sentence or seek PCR or habeas relief.*” (App. 97) (emphasis added).

Defense counsel agreed the letter “effectively represents the contents of the plea agreement.” (App. 42). He testified he spoke with Petitioner before sending the letters. (App.41). He also confirmed the state did not make any plea offers in this case.¹ (App.41). Petitioner agreed that as a part of his plea agreement he waived his right to pursue post-conviction relief. (App. 53).

This record establishes that Petitioner waived his right to pursue post-conviction relief. This decision was objectively reasonable, given that it permitted him to escape receiving the death penalty. *United States v. Fugit*, 703 F.3d 248, 260 (4th Cir. 2012) (internal quotation marks omitted) (finding that a petitioner’s subjective finding or assertion is non-dispositive and to establish prejudice the petitioner must establish that going to trial would have been objectively reasonable, given the circumstances). There was no indication Petitioner’s history of mental health issues had any impact on his ability to understand the waiver. (App. 122–23).

Petitioner argues that because his attorneys could not explicitly advise him to waive all claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, those claims could not have been waived independently by him. This argument runs contrary to the negotiations themselves, as articulated in both the letters laying out the negotiations, as well as the plea hearing transcript. The terms of this agreement are clearly stated in the letters from defense counsel: to avoid the death penalty, Cowick agreed to waive his right to contest his plea via PCR. Understandably, the victims’ family did not believe a life sentence was justice for these egregious crimes, but the State agreed

¹ Two of Petitioner’s allegations are that counsel failed to relay plea offers. (App.4).

not to pursue death in part because of the guarantees by the defense that Cowick would die in jail. (App. 161–75).

The record shows Cowick was aware that his plea would be a final resolution to his case and he voluntarily chose to waive any future collateral attacks in order to secure a plea deal by which he would avoid the death penalty. (App. 46). Petitioner submitted a written affidavit where he admitted guilt and wrote he was “accepting responsibility for this crime and being punished accordingly.” (App. 182). He admitted he “broke into the Couplin residence at night with a gun with the intentions of robbing her,” where he “killed her and her granddaughter by shooting them both.” (App. 189). Petitioner waived his right to assert ineffective assistance of counsel allegations and should not be permitted to raise these claims now. He does not allege any after-discovered evidence, or anything that was not known or knowable to him before his plea.

Notably, Petitioner did not present evidence at the evidentiary hearing showing plea counsel provided ineffective assistance by advising him to waive his right to appeal and collateral attack. Rather, his argument below was focused on Petitioner’s understanding whether he was waiving his right to PCR review. (App. 21). The PCR court recognized the issue was “whether or not there was actually a waiver” of collateral review. (App. 24). PCR counsel did not question counsel in detail about his conversations with Petitioner regarding the waiver, only asking a handful of questions regarding Petitioner’s history of head injuries. (App. 46–47). Similarly, PCR counsel elicited almost no information from Petitioner about counsel’s advice regarding the waiver. (App.50–52). Thus Petitioner failed to establish any ground for relief under *Sanders*. See *Sanders*, 412 S.C. at 617, 773 S.E.2d at 583 (explaining “although a

defendant may waive his right to collateral review, he is nevertheless still entitled to challenge whether the advice he received in agreeing to that waiver was constitutionally defective”).

The PCR court correctly held Petitioner has not shown counsel provided ineffective assistance that induced him to waive his right to collateral review. This Court should affirm.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this court should affirm the PCR Court’s findings that Petitioner waived his right to pursue collateral actions, including claims of ineffective assistance of counsel in post-conviction relief actions.